IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA 

ANDREW LEE GOLDEN, 

Appellant, 

V. 

STATE OF FLORIDA, 

Appellee, 

CASE NO. 78,982 

/ 

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

This is the direct appeal from a capital conviction and 

sentence of death, 

Honorable Robert Pyle, Circuit Judge for Polk County. 

It was the first capital trial before the 

Appellant, ANDREW LEE GOLDEN, will be referred to herein as 

" M r .  Golden" or "Appellant." Appellee, STATE OF FLORIDA, will be 

referred to herein as IIState" or "prosecution. 

The Record on Appeal herein consists of 17 volumes of 

pleadings and transcript which are consecutively numbered in the 

upper right-hand corner, except that Volumes XVI-XVII are 

numbered in the bottom right-hand corner. 

the end of Volume XV and are otherwise contained in Volumes XVI- 

XVII . 

The pleadings begin at 

Since the primary issue on appeal is insufficiency of the 

evidence (Issue I), and in order to reduce the length of this 

brief, many facts relevant to that issue are included in that 

argument rather than being repeated in the Statement of the Case 

1 



and Facts. 

organization. 

The State has indicated it will not object t o  this 

2 



STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS 

A. Procedural History 

On September 13, 1989, at 3:36 a.m., the body of Ms. Ardelle 

Golden was found floating in Lake Hartridge in Winter Haven, Polk 

County, Florida. (R-2978) 

On April 5, 1990, her husband, M r .  Andrew Lee Golden, was 

indicted for premeditated murder. (R-2966) 

Mr. Golden was arrested in April, 1990, in Minnesota; on 

advice from a public defender, he refused to waive extradition. 

When he subsequently retained his Florida trial counsel, he 

followed counsel's advice, dropped the extradition challenge, and 

returned to Florida in September, 1990. (R-2672-73) 

Mr. Golden pled not guilty (R-2969), and the defense twice 

filed a Motion to Dismiss under Florida Rule of Criminal 

Procedure 3.190(~)(4). (R-3008-17, 3028, 3166-91) The defense 

argued the motion at length, before two different judges. (R- 

3013-16, 3032-47, 3106-8, 3212) The State both times filed a 

Traverse (R-3018-20, 3192-97), which the defense moved to strike 

on the basis it did not raise any disputed material facts. (R- 

3021-31) The Motion to Dismiss was denied. (R-3047, 3293) 

Bond was originally set on October 9, 1990, at $50,000. (R- 

2987, 3005). However, after Mr. Golden was unable to make that 

band (R-2990-91, 2995, 3077), reassigned Judge Robert Pyle (R- 

3073, 3095) reduced the bond on March 20, 199), to $25,000 based 

on the weakness of the State's case: 

the nexus, if any exists, which might in 
anywise expose the Defendant to criminal 

3 



liability fo r  the death of Mrs. Golden, 
appears frail at best. . . . there appears a 
dearth of evidence showing that the death was 
the product of any criminal agency. 

(R-3099-3100) M r .  Golden was free on bond from April, 1991, 

until trial began in October, 1991. (11-3199) On July 9, 1991, 

over State objection, the Court modified the conditions of 

release to allow M r .  Golden to leave a relative's home and to 

move into a rented home with his sons until trial. (R-3199-3203) 

After the State expressed concern on April 3, 1991, that no 

death penalty motions had been filed (R-3111), the defense filed 

a number of "standard motions" on May 3, 1991. (R-3121, 3128-65) 

The State objected that the motions were untimely, but the court 

set a hearing that very afternoon despite the judge's apparent 

displeasure that he had "no choice". (R-3122-25) 

Prior to trial, the State offered to allow M r .  Golden to 

plead no contest to second-degree murder in exchange fo r  a 

sentence of 40 years, but the offer was refused. (R-3113-14) 

M r .  Golden had a pending civil suit against the City of 

Winter Haven for his wife's death, and the court granted the 

State's motion in limine without defense objection to prohibit 

any mention of that case. (R-34-36, 3294, 3298) 

The State filed two (2) Notices of Intent to introduce 

Williams rule evidence to establish motive. (R-3053-54, 3061-62) 

The defense objected vigorously that collateral crime evidence of 

motive should not be admitted prior to proof of corpus delicti, 

i.e., that a criminal agency was responsible for the death, and 

also argued that the prejudicial effect of this evidence 

4 
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outweighed any probative value. The court expressed its doubts 

as to relevance and ruled some of the evidence admissible and 

some inadmissible. (R-3221, 3275, 3293) No cautionary 

instruction was given or requested before this evidence wae 

introduced at trial. 

Throughout pretrial and trial proceedings, the defense moved 

the court for a jury view of the scene. The defense argued a 

view was critical for the jury to understand the ramp condition 

at night, arguing that Ms. Golden could have accidentally driven 

into the lake given the absence of lighting or any warning that a 

driver is approaching a boat ramp rather than merely travelling 

through a residential area. Although the State initially agreed 

to a view and the court indicated its agreement, the State then 

changed its position and argued vehemently against a view. 

Defense counsel was evidently stunned when the court finally 

succumbed to the State's persuasion and denied the view. (R-2688- 

96;  see also 40-51, 90-102, 105, 1415, 1417-18, 2059-60, 2378, 

3114, 3290-91, 3295-96) 

Trial commenced on October 7, 1991. (R-30) The defense 

moved f o r  a one-day continuance because M r .  Golden had been 

medicated by a doctor who recommended rest, since the medication 

would make M r .  Golden sleepy and dizzy. The request was denied. 

(R-30-4) 

During voir dire, a venire member who had "mixed feelings" 

about the death penalty but who believed in it in "certain 

cases," who would vote to keep the death penalty in Florida, and 

5 
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who agreed with the prosecutor's question that she would vote for 

death if he proved three aggravating circumstances was struck for 

cause, over defense objection and without any opportunity for 

rehabilitation. (R-448-63) 

The jury was sworn on October 15, 1991. (R-1422) The 

defense moved f o r  judgment of acquittal and presented lengthy 

argument at the close of the State's case (R-2491-2521), and 

again at the close of evidence; the motions were denied. (R-2732- 

34) After the State rested (R-2491) and the motion for judgment 

of acquittal was denied (R-2521), M r .  Golden testified at great 

length.' H i s  testimony was punctuated by (a) repeated 

admonitions by the trial court and even defense counsel as to his 

attitude toward the prosecution, as well as (b) repeated cross- 

examination as to alleged instances of dishonesty in financial 

matters. 

Evidence concluded on October 24, 1991. The court gave the 

defense requested jury instruction on circumstantial evidence. 

(R-2859-60) No instruction was requested (R-2865) or given on 

the Williams rule or motive evidence. 

The jury retired on Thursday afternoon at 3:30 p.m. and were 

sent home fo r  the evening at 6:OO p.m. (R-2868-69) On October 

25, 1991, at 3:12 p.m., the jury returned a verdict of guilty of 

first-degree murder. (R-2876, 3299) The defense oral motion f o r  

judgment of acquittal notwithstanding the verdict was denied. (R- 

'Mr. Golden's direct examination was interrupted twice by 
crying. (R-2558, 2560) 
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2880) 

The penalty phase was held the following Monday, October 28,  

1991. (R-2883) The court indicated this was the first capital 

case over which he had presided. (R-2893) The jury returned an 

advisory recommendation of death by a vote of eight to four. (R- 

3300) The sentencing hearing was held on November 8, 1991. The 

State and defense filed sentencing memoranda. (R-3301-06, 3310, 

3318, 3329-30) 

On November 15, 1991, the court sentenced M r .  Golden to 

death. (R-3336-37)2 

A Notice of Appeal was timely filed November 20, 1991. ( R -  

3308) M r .  Golden was declared indigent for purposes of appeal, 

and defense counsel's request to be appointed far purposes of the 

appeal was denied. (R-3338, 3357) Undersigned counsel was 

subsequently appointed to represent Mr. Golden in this appeal. 

B. Factual Histor+ 

On September 12, 1989, Andrew Golden was 45 years old and 

had never been arrested. He and Ardelle ("&die") Golden had 

been happily married for 24 years, and their life revolved around 

their sons, Darin (age 16) and Christopher (age 13). The boys 

were outstanding students and were very active in sports. (R- 

2No motion for new trial was filed. 

%ince the primary issue on appeal is insufficiency of the 
evidence, many facts relevant to that issue are included in Issue 
I of the Argument to avoid repetition. 
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1534-35, 1548, 1552, 1558, 1571) M r .  Golden had completed two 

master's programs at the University of Minnesota and worked on 

his doctorate. He was 5 '9 I l  and weighed approximately 155 pounds; 

Ms. Golden was 5'511, weighed 170 pounds, and was physically very 

strong. (R-1732, 2522-24, 2573, 2590-93) 

Mr. and Ms. Golden were "best friends" and went out together 

three to four nights a week. (R-1537, 1546, 1552-53, 1560) Darin 

testified that he hoped to have as good a marriage as his 

parents : 

They were -- they were friends. And it was 
kind of embarrassing sometimes, because we 
would be in the supermarket and they would -- 
they would like lean over and kiss each other 
right in the middle, and I'm like throwing 
up, just like what are you guys doing? 

(R-1570) 

Until 1982, when the Goldens moved to Winter Haven, Florida, 

they had lived their entire life in Minnesota. (R-1540-41, 1570) 

Mr. Golden had accepted a job at the University of Tampa. 

arrival, however, Ms. Golden did not like Tampa, so he accepted a 

job at Traviss Vocational-Technical School in Lakeland. In 1987, 

he left his teaching position and tried to start his own business 

writing training materials for companies. This endeavor required 

some travel around the state and never met with much success. 

Upon 

M r .  Golden also spent half his time single handedly remodeling 

some apartments they had bought in Winter Haven. After some 

renovations, they refinanced the apartments fo r  $65,000, paid off 

the initial $30,000 mortgage, and used the $35,000 difference for 

living expenses and for more remodeling costs. (R-1577, 2524-29) 
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Ms. Golden had been employed at Presbyterian Nursing Center 

i n  Lakeland s ince  June, 1986. (R-2004-6, 2 0 9 4 )  Chip Golden 

testified his father mainly took care of household matters while 

his mother took care of paying bills and household business (R- 

1551), but Darin thought his mother took care of the household. 

(R-1576-77) 

Between 1988 and the summer of 1989, the Golden's financial 

condition deteriorated. By early 1989, the $35,000 was gone, and 

the family resorted to cash advances from credit cards fo r  income 

to supplement Ms. Golden's small salary. M r .  Golden testified he 

kept receiving unsolicited requests f o r  credit cards, and they 

needed the money far bills, and it just became too easy. 

spring of 1989, the Goldens were considering returning to 

Minnesota where all their family lived and where Ms. Golden's 

mother was recently widowed and left to run a farm. (R-2529-31) 

By late 

The family had three cars, Darin's for school and work, Ms. 

Golden's Ford LTD for  work, and M r .  Golden's van. However, h i s  

van had become unreliable due to repeated mechanical problems. 

As a result, M r .  Golden had rented a Ford Tempo on July 3, 1989. 

(R-2026-27) On July 24, 1989, he switched to a Pantiac Grand Am. 

(R-2028) 

1989, the date of Ms. Galden's death. (R-2030) The rental was 

charged to M r .  Golden's American Express card. (R-2029) M r .  

Golden was insured with Allstate; that coverage expired on July 

23, 1989, but the rental company did not learn until after the 

accident. (R-2032-33) The total rental c o s t  from July 3 to 

The car was still being rented on September 12-13, 
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September 13 was $1,107.40. (R-2036-37) 

During the summer of 1989, M r .  and Ms. Golden jointly 

consulted with a bankruptcy attorney. 

trip to Minnesota to look at employment opportunities and to make 

a decision about relocation. (R-1561-62) The younger son wanted 

to return, and Mr. Golden felt employment oportunities were 

better in Minnesota, while the older son wanted to finish his 

senior year of high school in Winter Haven; Ms. Golden was happy 

with her job and so w a s  not eager to leave it. They were all 

torn between wanting to go but not wanting to leave; it was a 

tough decision. Although the Goldens initially decided to move 

back to Minnesota, they changed their minds upon returning to 

Florida, primarily so the alder son could graduate high school 

there. Darin was also taking college courses during his senior 

year, and they did not want to interfere with that. (R-1561-63, 

They took a three-week 

1574-75, 2532-38) 

The Goldens' recreational time was spent with their sons. 

Darin was a point guard on the varsity basketball team. 

who was 13, kept them the busiest, as he was heavily involved in 

sports and gifted academically. M r .  Golden testified: 

Chip, 

And that was our life; our children and each 
other. We were private people. You know, we 
were -- we fulfilled each other's needs. 

(R-2540-41) 

A11 testimony indicated M r .  Golden had never been anything 

but a gentle person and had never been known to be violent. Ms. 

Golden's brother was called to testify briefly for the State and 
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was then excused so that he might stay and visit with M r .  

and his sons. (R-2057) 

Golden 

Mr. Golden testified that, on September 12, 1989, he arrived 

home about 6:OO p.m. to find his wife taking her customary brief 

nap on the couch after work; her Ford LTD was in the carport 

( "Ardie's spot") . 
She would take a nap and rest herself on the 
couch, and that was kind of a given. 
Everybody left her alone. I mean, that was 
necessary because I, you know, wanted to make 
sure that she got her rest and things of that 
nature. 

Then after she rested, if she chose to eat we 
would. 
her, whether it was generally go to R Mart, 
go out and eat a salad, some excuse to be 
together. It was important. And that's -- 
it's been that way a l l  of our life, you know. 

(R-2540) M r .  Golden parked the rental car in the drive behind 

her car; while Ms. Golden finished her nap, he got the laundry 

off the line. 

I always wanted to do something with 

M r .  and Ms. Golden ate something and then went for a ride; 

as was customary "since ' 6 5 "  when they were together, he drove. 

He did not remember what time they left, but Darin had already 

gone to his girlfriend's. (R-1537, 1544-45, 1547, 2540-43) Chip 

did not recall what time they left, probably around 6:OO or so. 

M r .  Golden said it had to be later than that due to her nap. 

They took the rental car, since it was parked behind the LTD and 

Mr. Golden's van was not working. (R-1536-37, 1544, 1566) They 

followed their nightly ritual. They checked the apartments, got 

the mail, watered the plants there, walked around, and made sure 
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everything was okay there. (R-2544, 2583) They had living 

quarters (telephone, clothes, and everything) at the apartments, 

and sometimes they would stay there. They received mail at both 

homes. They had an option to buy, but the landlord died, 

they never followed through. (R-2553) They used both addresses, 

depending on from where the mail was sent. (R-2632) 

and 

They drove to the high school just to see if Darin's car was 

there; he remembered it was ten o'clockish, because it was so 

late far what looked like a junior high team to be practicing. 

They drove by Darin's girlfriend's house, but his car was not 

there either. 

around. 

blind mosquitoes were so bad they left and went to Lake Hartridge 

instead. (R-2544-45) 

They were not concerned but were just riding 

They went to Lake Cannon Park near their home, but the 

Darin testified that he probably arrived home between 9:OO 

and 9:30 p.m.; Chip was already asleep on the couch. 

his room to do homework and probably went to bed between 1O:OO 

and 10:30 p.m. 

He went to 

He did not hear anything until morning. (R-1558- 

60 ) 

M r .  Golden testified they parked underneath the tree by the 

abandoned building. 

the way out, 10 to 12 feet out. 

and laughing at the Havendale Drive-in. 

were happy. 

had on short pants. 

not realize it had rocks, which hurt his feet. 

He sat on the dock approximately a fourth of 

They could hear people talking 

They talked a while and 

He took off his shoes and jumped in the water. He 

He had never been in there before and did 

His wife did not 

12 



want to come in, so he waded out. He stated he 

swimming, that it was less than knee deep where 

2546-47, 2575) 

did not go 

he jumped in. (R- 

He wiped his feet with his socks and put on his shoes. 

Basketball season was coming, and he had coached many years. 

decided he would jog a little to the Boys Club to get in shape, 

so she drove and was waiting when he got there. He did not see 

her pass him on the way, so maybe she went another route from 

him. He then drove them home. (R-2647-49) 

He 

Chip was asleep on the couch, with the television still on. 

He noticed the clock had two hands up "like this," 

either 11:05 or 10:55 or 12:OO; he was not sure. 

with an afghan; Darin's car was in the yard, and his room was 

dark, so M r .  Golden assumed Darin was asleep. (R-2549-50) 

so it was 

He covered Chip 

He went to get undressed and grab a shower. 

and asked if he remembered seeing her cigarette case. 

dumb little cigarette case worth two bucks or less, but it was so 

important to her, and you couldn't convince her otherwise." He 

tried to convince her to wait but she did not want to. 

she did not need him to go with her. 

anything else; he could not remember but thought he said 

something about checking to see if they needed milk. 

2636-38) 

and going to bed. 

Ardie came in 

"It was a 

She said 

She asked if he needed 

(R-2550-51, 

He remembered hanging his clothes on the shower curtain 

The next thing he knew it was morning. 

He did not think that much about it at the time because it 

was not uncommon for her to go out at night. However, it was 
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their pattern for him to go to bed early and f o r  her to stay up 

late; 2 : O O  a.m. was not uncommon. (R-1579) She often had reports 

to write, and Darin would stay up with her doing his homework. 

(R-2551) 

M r .  Golden testified his wife would drive to the stare at 

night if she wanted something but she did not particularly want 

to drive to work at night. (R-2543-44) It was a 30-minute drive 

to her job. (R-2540) Darin testified his mother did not have any 

problem going out on her own at night and often did fo r  groceries 

o r  other errands; she was independent. (R-1580-81) There was 

nothing unusual about his father going to bed while his mother 

was out on a nighttime errand. (R-1582) Several coworkers 

testified they had not known Ms. Golden to drive at night. (R- 

2006, 2015-16, 2104) 

Ms. Golden wore her glasses all the time and whenever 

driving. The exception was when she was in bed or the shower or 

putting something in her eyes. (R-1538, 1547, 1568-69, 2050-51) 

Dr. Brad Salomon, an optometrist, testified Ms. Golden was 

examined in 1984 by hi3 partner. H e r  vision, without glasses, 

was 20/400, and she was extremely nearsighted. Without her 

glasses, she would be able to see approximately 10 inches away 

from her face; usually a nearsighted person sees a little worse 

at night. A person with 20/400 vision would consider their 

glasses very important and would do something to protect them in 

a situation where they might lose them. (R-1861-67) 

Darin testified that, although the other family members 

14 



' I  
0 

I 
I 
I 
1 
I 
t 
1 
I 
I 
I 
I 

e 

swam, she did not, but "could kind of swim"; however, she usually 

only went in to a depth that fell between her knees and waist. 

He said she did not like being in water and was afraid of water 

"to a p0int.l (R-1541-42) She took her glasses off  when swimming 

because one time in the ocean a wave knocked her glasses off and 

she lost them. (R-1546-47) "1 think she had just become more 

cautious with her glasses, especially since she had developed 

Sjogern's disease with her eyes." (R-2574) 

M r .  Golden testified she had taken swimming lessons at the 

pool in Winter Haven about three years before the accident; he 

had seen her at least dog paddle there. (R-2575) He had never 

seen her actually swim aside from the dog paddling. (R-2575, 

2608-9, 2651, 2656, 2662) 

Alvin Pilotte lived across the street from the Lake 

Hartridge boat ramp; his house was on the water on the opposite 

side of the ramp from the dock. (R-1524-26) 

arrived home that night around 12:lO or 12:15 a.m. and 

immediately went to bed. 

although his dog woke him up t w o  or three times barking. (R-1529, 

1531) 

that boat ramp, a pick-up truck which went in forward, and a 

station wagon towing a boat which rolled in backwards; the water 

was partially up on the windows of both. (R-1527-28) 

He testified he 

He did not see or hear anything,

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