# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

)

# MAR 22 1993

SID J. WHITE

1

٩,

ANDREW LEE GOLDEN,

Appellant,

LERK. SUPREME COURT
By Ohief Deputy Clerk

CASE NO. 78,982

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

#### ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

MARY LEONTAKIANAKOS ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 510995

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

####

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

26 Florida Statute 90.404(2)(a) provides:

Similar fact evidence of other crimes, wrongs, or acts is admissible when relevant to prove a material fact issue, such as proof of motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, identity, or absence of

The American Express card is the one that carried the \$200,000 life insurance policy in case of accidental death while driving a leased car (R 2194). A request for a claim form was made by the defendant on September 26, of 1989 (R 2194).

reasonable tendency to establish the crime charged is not inadmissible simply because it points to other possible crimes. Ashley, 265 So.2d at 693.

Nothing could be more relevant to motive in this case than evidence that the defendant signed his wife's name to life insurance enrollment forms just a few months before her murder. This is especially true when he was the beneficiary and had not purchased any such insurance on his own life.<sup>27</sup> The fact that signing her name, if done without her permission, may point to another crime does not diminish the relevance of this evidence.

The same is true for the bankruptcy evidence. The fact that the defendant sought legal advice and filed a bankruptcy petition does not only confirm his desperate financial condition but also highlights his awareness of the seriousness of his plight. Moreover, the omission of American Express as a creditor is highly relevant to motive as American Express carried the automatic \$200,000 life insurance policy for accidental death.<sup>28</sup>

"All evidence that points to a defendant's commission of a crime is prejudicial. The true test is relevancy." Ashley, 265

mistake or accident, but it is inadmissible when the evidence is relevant solely to prove bad character or propensity.

The defendant could have purchased life insurance on his life at the same time by filling out a section on the same form (R 2151, 2191).

Despite appellant's contentions to the contrary, the testimony was clear that he did request a claim form from American Express on September 26 of 1989 (R 2194).

- 30 -

So.2d at 694. The Williams Rule evidence was properly admitted against the defendant as it was highly relevant.<sup>29</sup>

Additionally, the defendant complains that the prejudice was aggravated as the jury was not given cautionary instructions during the admission of this evidence. A review of the record reveals that this issue was not preserved for appeal.

It is incumbent upon the defendant to request such an instruction. <u>Id.</u> The defendant here did not make any such request. Therefore, he may not complain now on appeal about the court's alleged failure to give such an instruction. Id.

Finally, it should be noted that the defendant failed to properly preserve his objections to the introduction of the Williams Rule evidence during the trial. The record reveals that no contemporaneous objections were made to the introduction of this evidence. Consequently, he is now procedurally barred from complaining about its admission. <u>Lawrence v. State</u>, Supreme Court Case No. 76,399 (Fla. 3/11/93). Relief should be denied.

## **ISSUE V**

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT COMMIT FUNDAMENTAL ERROR BY COMMENTS MADE DURING TRIAL.

The defendant claims that the trial judge and his attorney committed fundamental error by repeatedly chastising him in the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> The defendant also challenges the reference to false statements by the defendant on loan applications. This questioning was proper impeachment during cross-examination of the defendant. By taking the stand, the defendant put his credibility at issue and cannot now complain about valid attacks on it. Moreover, despite the appellant's contention, there was no false intimation that the defendant had other pending cases (R 2321 - 22).

presence of the jury. A review of the record reveals that this claim is without merit.

The trial took almost three weeks and covers eighteen volumes of transcripts. During the defendant's testimony, the prosecutor objected on two complained of occasions. In the first instance, the court sustained the objection and instructed the defendant to not answer the question, as he was starting to do, while the objection was pending (R 2535). In the second instance, the defendant started testifying to inadmissible hearsay. The court sustained the State's objection and instructed the defendant to respond to the questions as nearly as he could (R 2575-76).

On cross-examination, the defendant again continued speaking during an objection. The court again instructed him to stop speaking until the objection was ruled on (R 2587). Finally, in response to one of the prosecutor's questions, the defendant sarcastically replied "Watch my mouth. No Sir" (R 2592). The Court interrupted the cross-examination and instructed the defendant to answer the questions posed without sarcasm.

The trial judge has the obligation to conduct a fair trial. In conducting a trial, the judge must rule on objections, oversee the admission of evidence, including testimony, and otherwise make certain that the trial is conducted properly.

There is no requirement that the trial judge remain mute during the proceedings. What is improper is for a trial judge to comment on the weight of the evidence, the credibility of the witnesses and the guilt of the accused. <u>See</u>, Section 90.106, Florida Statutes (1992). The remarks referred to in the record

- 32 -

are nothing more than rulings on objections made and the trial court's exercising its responsibility to conduct a fair trial. <u>Jackson v. State</u>, 545 So.2d 260, 264 (Fla. 1989).<sup>30</sup>

If the defense had felt that the defendant was prejudiced as a result of these remarks, a curative instruction could have been requested. <u>Huff v. State</u>, 495 So.2d 145, 148 (Fla. 1986). As no curative instruction was requested or objection raised, this issue has not been preserved for appeal. <u>Lusk v. State</u>, 446 So.2d 1038, 1042 (Fla. 1984).<sup>31</sup>

Even if this issue had been preserved, these remarks would not constitute grounds for reversal. The complained of remarks should not be considered in isolation but rather in context. Lister v. State, 226 So.2d 238, 239 (4th DCA 1969). In relation to the trial, they are at best incidental to the overall record and therefore harmless. Lusk, 446 So.2d at 1042. Harmless error has been applied to excuse even improper judicial comments made in front of the jury. <u>Millett v. State</u>, 460 So.2d 489, 493 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984).

Finally, a review of the entirety of the defendant's testimony reveals a pattern of evasiveness and unresponsiveness.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> The appellant complains in his brief about a statement made by the trial judge to the first venire panel that "this case is about a lady who was drowned in an automobile." (R 134). What the appellant fails to mention is that the defense did not object to this remark as it obviously suited their theory that this drowning was an accident. It was the prosecutor who raised an objection and asked for a curative instruction to which the defense agreed (R 136-37, 144).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> The defendant now complains that the trial judge improperly emphasized the first degree murder form by reading it in full (R 2862-63). This claim has not been preserved for appellate review as no objection was raised or curative instruction requested.

It is evident that defense counsel tried to minimize the impact of his client's evident hostility towards the prosecution by having him apologize in the presence of the jury. This obvious strategy gave the defendant the opportunity to explain his poor attitude to the jury. He should not now be allowed to complain about problems he caused.

#### **ISSUE VI**

THE TRIAL JUDGE DID NOT ABUSE HIS DISCRETION BY DENYING THE DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR A JURY VIEW OF THE SCENE.

The defendant claims that the trial court erred in denying his motion for a jury view of the crime scene. A review of the record, however, reveals that this claim is without merit.

The scene in the instant case is the boat ramp leading to Lake Hartridge. It was the defense theory that the victim accidentally drove off the ramp not realizing that there was a lake there. They maintained this theory even though the defendant himself testified that the victim had been at the lake that same night with him. In pursuing its theory, the defense alleged that a view of the scene by the jury was imperative.

The record, however, shows that the scene had substantially changed since the night of the murder. In the two intervening years, the water level alone had risen almost two feet. In addition, the evidence established that on the night of the murder, the sky was clear and the moon nearly full (R 1499). Witnesses testified that they had no difficulty seeing the water upon approaching the ramp (R 1652). In fact, Rick Heiman, the officer that discovered the victim testified that he actually saw the floating body from the time that he turned onto the roadway

- 34 -

leading to the ramp, 180 feet away (R 1499, 1511-12). Officer Heiman also testified that he could see the submerged car when he was about 40 feet away (R 1505).

The defense had the opportunity to cross-examine these witnesses as well as present any type of evidence it felt was helpful. There were also numerous photographs of the scene introduced into evidence. These photographs were taken from various angles and depicted the crime scene as it appeared on the day of the murder. Also introduced into evidence was a videotape filming the scene and the removal of the car from the lake.

The decision of whether to allow a jury view of the crime scene is in the discretion of the trial judge. <u>Bundy v. State</u>, 471 So.2d 9, 20 (Fla. 1985); <u>Rankin v. State</u>, 143 So.2d 193, 195 (Fla. 1962). The trial judge in this case thoughtfully considered this request and in fact visited the scene himself on two separate occasions (R 105). For comparison, he took with him several photographs that were later introduced into evidence (R 105).

Based on legal argument and his observations  $^{32}$  he ultimately denied the defense request (R 2696-2700). It was his opinion

- 35 -

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> After viewing the scene, the trial judge made the following observations:

Its something that I don't know until -- put it this way: I need to put it in perspective. I don't know if there's any reason to go out there or not. I really won't know that until I see or hear the proofs of where we're going with the case. I must say I've drawn certain conclusions from having visited the place. I went yesterday afternoon when I left the courthouse. I went last night around 10:00 or 10:30 again. And I have some questions. I'm not sure my impressions are material at this time in the

that the scene had changed since the 1989 murder. "Such a determination is left to the discretion of the trial judge and there is a presumption as to the correctness of his rulings in the absence of a demonstration to the contrary. <u>Bundy</u>, 471 So.2d at 20.

1

The defendant cannot demonstrate an abuse of discretion by the court. Consequently, he is not entitled to relief on this claim.

#### **ISSUE VII**

# THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR BY ADMITTING HEARSAY EVIDENCE

The defendant claims that the trial judge improperly admitted the introduction of inadmissible hearsay. He then points to three such instances from the trial. A review of the record, however, reveals that this argument is without merit.

The first complaint involves Detective Smith's testimony about his investigation. The night after the murder, Detective Smith showed the victim's photograph to clerks at five convenience stores near her home in an effort to determine if she had purchased cigarettes there the night before<sup>33</sup>. He testified

absence of some motion supported by some testimony or evidence of why we should do this. (R 105).

At the appropriate time, he denied the motion (R 2700).

<sup>33</sup> An unopened pack of cigarettes was found in the victim's purse (R 1606). According to the defendant, the victim had gone out on the night she was killed to look for her cigarette case and to purchase more cigarettes and milk. (R 1796, 1802, 1929).

- 36 -

at trial that none of the clerks were able to identify Mrs. Golden.

The trial judge allowed the testimony finding that it was not hearsay. The actual question asked by the prosecutor and Detective Smith's answer are as follows:

> Q. Yes or no, Detective did you find any person who has seen Mrs. Golden in any of those convenience stores the night before?

A. No, sir.

(R 1856).

The court's ruling that this testimony was not hearsay is correct.

The State did not ellicit any hearsay as it did not introduce any out of court statements. The evidence introduced was the results of Detective Smith's investigation, i.e., that no one at the stores canvassed recognized the victim's photo. The State did not introduce the actual statements of any of those people nor did it argue that as a result it had proved that Mrs. Golden had not purchased cigarettes on September 13. The defense had ample opportunity to cross-examine Detective Smith as to this procedure and point out its inherent weakness (R 1856-1860).

Moreover, the evidence introduced was not offered for the truth of the matter asserted, i.e., that the victim had not purchased cigarettes the night she was killed but rather that none of the clerks recognized Mrs. Golden's photograph. It should be noted that when the state elicited this testimony, the defense did not make the required contemporaneous objection or ask that the testimony be stricken. Consequently, this issue was not properly preserved for appellate review. Leonard v. State, 423 So.2d 594, 595 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1982).

- 37 -

Nevertheless, even if deemed improper, this evidence was at best harmless. The defense theory was that when the victim went looking for her lost cigarette case, she accidentally drove the defendant's leased car into the lake and drowned. It was of no consequence to this defense when the victim purchased her cigarettes as the purchasing of cigarettes would not have caused or prevented this alleged accident. Moreover, the prosecutor did not focus on this evidence in closing argument nor did he argue that it established that Mrs. Golden had not purchased cigarettes that night (R 2814-15).

The second instance of error according to the defendant occurred when the State introduced statements the victim made to her co-workers about not wanting to relocate to Minnesota or leave her job. A review of the record reveals that this claim is also without merit.

The first such statement cited in the defendant's brief was not objected to (R 2007). The same is true of other such statements the defendant now finds objectionable (R 2016, 2023). As there were not contemporaneous objections to these statements or motions to strike their contents, the issue was not preserved for appeal. Leonard, 423 So.2d at 595.

The second objectionable statement cited in the defendant's brief was actually brought out on cross-examination and was in direct response to a question by defense counsel (R 2021). This is also true of statements cited on page 131 of the appellant's brief (R 2102, 2018-20).

The only cited statement properly objected to was that of Mr. Hauth, the victim's supervisor, who testified about Mrs.

- 38 -

Golden's sadness about the prospect of relocating to Minnesota and leaving her job. (R 2089-2090). First, it should be noted that this statement is simply cumulative to the other unobjected or defense ellicited statements. Second, this statement is admissible under the state of mind exception to the hearsay rule. Section 90.803(1)(a) 1, Florida Statutes (1991).

A victim's state of mind is not generally admissible as it is not of issue in a criminal case. <u>Downs v. State</u>, 574 So.2d 1095, 1098 (Fla. 1991). Rather, it is generally the defendant's state of mind that is at issue. <u>Id</u>. Victim statements, however, have been found admissible when the victim's state of mind is relevant to an issue in the case as for example when the issue of consent is raised in sexual battery, <u>Bedford v. State</u>, 589 So.2d 245, 252 (Fla. 1991), or claims of self-defense or accident are raised in murder, <u>Kingery v. State</u>, 523 So.2d 1199 (Fla. 1st DCA, 1988); <u>Kelley v. State</u>, 543 So.2d 286, 288 (Fla. 1st DCA, 1989).

In the instant case, the victim's state of mind was made an issue in the case by the appellant. The defense claimed throughout the trial that the Golden marriage was happy and that there was no conflict between the victim and the defendant. Consequently, the victim's state of mind is relevant as it rebutted this claim of marital bliss.

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